STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE GORDON G. COOPER
CASE NO. 2015-CP-11-0319
APPELLANT CASE NO.: 2017-001459

RECEIVED
OCT 19 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Brenda Halsey, Bernay F. Halsey, Jr., Demont Halsey,
Fredericka Halsey and Brittany Halsey,

Appellants,

versus

Gwendolette Halsey Simmons, Kenneth Wayne Oglesby, Roderick Terrill
Oglesby, any heirs of the Roderick Gaffney Estate, known and unknown, who
may claim any interest in the subject property, and any unknown heirs or parties
who may claim title or ownership in the real estate which is the subject of this action,

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in holding that the Tax Sale was valid, the error being that the requirements of Code §12-51-40 were not followed because the notices sent by the Delinquent Tax Office were not sent to the best address available.
- II. The trial court erred in holding that the Tax Sale was valid, the error being that the requirements of Code §12-51-40 were not followed because the notices were not sent to Brenda Halsey.
- III. The trial court erred in granting a directed verdict, the error being that the Appellants were denied the opportunity to present evidence.
- IV. The trial court erred in granting a directed verdict, the error being that the testimony presented by the Delinquent Tax Office showed that the requirements of Code §12-51-40 were not followed.
- V. The trial court erred in granting a directed verdict, the error being that the ruling of the court was based on an incomplete Record.
- VI. The trial court erred in granting a directed verdict, the error being that despite the confusion surrounding ownership and description of the subject property, the Delinquent Tax Office had actual notice that Brenda Halsey was an owner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The unoccupied house and lot which is the subject of this action fronts on Leadmine Road in Gaffney, South Carolina. It was sold at a Tax Sale on November 4, 2013. The delinquent taxes were for the years 2008-2013. The Respondent, Elijah Reddish, was the successful bidder. His deed was issued on November 12, 2014.

The Appellants are the owners of the subject property. They filed this action on April 15, 2015 asking the court:

- (a) To hold that the Tax Sale had been conducted improperly; and
- (b) To declare that they are the owners of the subject property.

The chain of title to the subject property is complicated. The legal descriptions in some of the deeds were not accurate, but the property was always identified as fronting on Leadmine Road.

In their Complaint, the Appellants attached the chain of title showing that Bernay Halsey (the person from whom the Appellants inherited the property) first owned the property in 1982. The Complaint also showed that the County records, on many occasions, incorrectly identified the property. Copies of documents from the Assessor's Office, Mapping Office, and Tax Office showed inconsistencies in the tax map numbers, addresses of property, and owners of record.

The matter was referred to the Master-In-Equity for Spartanburg County who acted as a Special Referee. A hearing was scheduled for March 22, 2017. Prior to commencing the trial, the court directed that testimony concerning the Tax Sale would take place first (Tr.58). Mr. Vernon L. Price, the Delinquent Tax Collector for Cherokee County, placed his entire file into evidence.

A summary of his testimony is as follows:

Execution of Tax Notice - This was sent to Gwendollette Dawkins (formerly Gwendolyn Simmons), the address was 135 Iris Lane (Ex. 2, Tr. 106). [The actual notice is mailed by QS-1. It was sent to them on March 19, 2013.]

Final Notice - This was sent to Gwendollette Dawkins at 135 Iris Lane. She receipted for this on June 8, 2013 (Ex. 3, Tr. 107).

Notice of Levy - The notice was placed on the premises on September 18, 2013 (Ex. 4, Tr. 109).

Newspaper Notice - Notice of the Tax Sale was published in the Gaffney Ledger and in The Chronicle. The subject property was identified as Gaffney Redderick Est. at 305 Leadmine Street (Ex. 5 & 6, Tr. 115-118).

Notice of Sale - This notice advised that the property had been sold at the Tax Sale on November 4, 2013. It also advised that the time for redeeming the property would end on November 5, 2014. This notice was mailed to Gwendollette Dawkins at 135 Iris Lane on November 13, 2013 (Ex. 7, Tr. 112).

End of Redemption Period - On October 13, 2014, this was sent to and receipted for by Gwendollette Dawkins at 135 Iris Lane (Ex. 8, Tr. 114). This was also sent to and receipted for by Brenda Halsey at 305 Leadmine Road (Ex. 9, Tr. 113).

After the testimony presented by the Delinquent Tax Collector, counsel for Elijah Reddish moved for a directed verdict. The court granted the Motion, and the Tax Sale was declared to have been valid and the Plaintiffs' action was dismissed.

The Appellants filed a 59(e) Motion on April 13, 2017. This was dismissed by Order dated June 19, 2017.

Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed on June 29, 2017.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This action was brought to set aside a tax sale. It is undisputed that such actions are in equity. Smith v. Barr, 375 S.C. 157 (Ct. App. 2007). Since this is a case in equity, this Court has the authority to review the testimony and records and make its own findings of fact.

ARGUMENTS

I. Notice Was Not Given To The Best Address Available (Exceptions I & II)

Code §12-51-40 provides the format for selling property for delinquent taxes. In the case at bar, the Delinquent Tax Office mailed the notices required, but did not give notice to the owner of the property.

The right of a government agency to enforce taxation is not disputed. However, the purpose of the tax sale is to protect the governing authority from entities or individuals who willfully and persistently refused to pay taxes. The Court has consistently held that the purpose of the statute is not to punish a taxpayer for non-payment if the delinquency is the result of a legitimate mistake or error.

The effect of a Tax Sale is drastic. Therefore, our courts have held that strict compliance is required in order to have a valid sale. In the case of King v. James, 388 S.C. 16 (Ct. App. 2010), the Court held that the failure to follow the notice requirements is a fundamental defect which renders the proceedings absolutely void.

The statute specifically states that the notice “must be mailed to the best address available”. Requiring this to be done is in keeping with the holding in Hawkins vs. Bruno Yacht Sales, Inc., 353 S.C. 31 (2003). In Hawkins, the Court held that the reason for the requirements is to protect the taxpayer from the needless sacrifice of his property.

In the case at bar, the best available address was not used. Brenda Halsey had been receiving her mail at this address for many years. And, there are numerous public records and documents (that are discussed below) which document that Brenda Halsey was using this address. This was documented by the fact that the one notice that was sent to Brenda Halsey was at this address and it was receipted for by Ms. Halsey (Ex. 9, Tr. 113).

The County Officials acknowledged that the chain of title to the subject property was complicated. The Delinquent Tax Collector described the title as a “mess” (Tr. 73). He contended that there was no documentation to identify who owned the real property or who the heirs were (Tr. 71, 72). However, Mr. Price testified that the only people that he associated the property with were Gwendollette Dawkins and Brenda Halsey (Tr. 73). In fact, Mr. Price had had on-going contact with them since 1997. He testified that he had had dealings with them in the Assessor’s Office and in the Tax Collector’s Office (Tr. 70). Thus, by his own testimony, Mr. Price acknowledged that he knew Brenda Halsey claimed an interest in the subject property.

Despite the involvement of Brenda Halsey with the property, she was not sent the Execution Tax Notice, the final tax notice, or the notice of sale. When Mr. Price was asked why she was not sent a copy, his response was “we only have room in the computer system for one address” (Tr. 65). That is not a valid reason for not giving notice to a property owner, and Mr. Price must have known this: He did ultimately send Brenda Halsey a notice of the end of the redemption period at her address (Ex. 9, Tr. 113).

Mr. Price was asked why he had sent Brenda Halsey a final notice but not the other notices. He was not responsive. He said that it was done that way “because those are generated by the computer” (Tr. 75). Mr. Price then testified that the reason Brenda Halsey received the final notice was through his own initiative (Tr. 73, 74). The fact is this: Mr. Price was aware that Brenda Halsey had an interest in the subject property and that he had dealt with her in the past about the property. Notwithstanding, he chose to give her no notification until the final notice which was just days away before the end of the redemption period.

The actions of Mr. Price are contrary to the spirit of and the requirements of Code §12-51-40. He did not send notices to the only two people that he felt had connection with the property. Instead, he chose to send it to only one. And, as will be shown below, the county documents only have limited references to Gwendolette Dawkins being involved with the property. So it is questionable as to why he would choose Ms. Dawkins. In addition to this error, Mr. Price did not advertise the property correctly: when the newspaper ads were run, neither the name of Gwendolette Dawkins nor Brenda Halsey was used. Instead, the ads were run in the name of Gaffney Reddick Estate (Ex. 5&6, Tr. 115-118).

When the trial court made its ruling, it took the position that since Brenda Halsey was sent a copy of the final notice before the end of the redemption period, the requirements of the statute were met. The court stated “regardless of whether there was a front end notice, at the other end, they were noticed and had a chance to redeem the property” (Tr. 100). The court’s ruling is contrary to the requirements and case law surrounding this statute.

It is respectfully submitted that the ruling of the trial court is erroneous. The Appellants ask this Court to hold that the tax sale was invalid.

II. The Court Erred In Directing A Verdict (Exceptions II, III, IV, V & VI)

Since the court directed a verdict, the Appellants were not able to present testimony and exhibits which related to the confusion and the mis-identification of the subject property. Also, the Appellants were denied the opportunity to show the efforts they made to have their names identified as the owners. However, by cross-examination of Mr. Price, the Appellants were able to show some of the continuing failure of the county to correctly identify the subject property.

Mr. Price was questioned about eight (8) of the documents that the Appellants were intending to use when presenting their case. For brevity, the testimony surrounding these documents is presented in outline form:

Mapping Card (Ex. 1, Tr. 123) - This shows that on August 3, 1982, Bernay Halsey went to the Mapping Office to list his name instead of the previous owner, Lula Oglesby. The document correctly shows the address of 305 Leadmine, but it lists the Tax Map Number as 056 instead of 055.003.

Mr. Price could offer no explanation for this. All he could say was that the Tax Map Number 056 faced on O'Neal Street -- not Leadmine (Tr. 76).

Assessor's Printout (Ex. 2, Tr. 124) - This showed that on July 16, 1996, the property was listed in the name of Lula Oglesby and Bernay Halsey. However, the document identified the Tax Map Number as 055 instead of 055.003.

Mr. Price could offer no explanation. He simply testified that he had never seen the document before (Tr. 78).

Assessor Addressing (Ex. 3, Tr. 125) - This showed that on August 16, 2000, Bernay Halsey was identified as the owner of the subject property, but the address was shown as 1005 Leadmine Road. The Tax Map Number was shown as 056.

Mr. Price could not explain this document. His response was only that there was no such address as 1005 Leadmine Road (Tr. 82).

Tax Notices (Ex. 4-8, Tr. 126-130) - These notices were for the years 1998-2002. All five (5) notices correctly showed Bernay Halsey as the owner and correctly showed that the property was located at 305 Leadmine Street. However, the Tax Map Number was shown as 056.

Mr. Price had no explanation. His testimony was that Tax Map Number 056 is for O'Neal Street. He also testified that information concerning the address is mainly a function of the Assessor's Office (Tr. 85).

2004-2005 Taxes (Ex. 9, Tr. 131) - These two (2) tax notices were sent in the name of Gwendolette Dawkins at 135 Iris Lane. The notices correctly show the Tax Map Number as 055.003. However, both of these tax notices were paid for by Brenda Halsey.

Mr. Price had no explanation other than to say the taxes had been "paid before they rolled into my department" (Tr. 85).

Assessor Addressing (Ex. VII to Complaint, Tr. 13) - This showed that on March 26, 1997, Bernay Halsey was listed as the owner of the house and lot at 305 Leadmine Road. However, the Tax Map Number was listed as 056.

Mr. Price had no explanation. His testimony was that he had "no clue" (Tr. 86) and that this document was prepared by the Assessor's Office before he started to work there (Tr. 86).

Delinquent Tax (Ex. 10, Tr. 132) - This document is dated May 31, 2011. It identified Brenda Halsey as the owner of 305 Leadmine Street, and it correctly showed that the Tax Map Number was 055.003.

Mr. Price had no explanation. He responded that addresses "could be changed at any time" (Tr. 88). He also said "I am at a loss because, like I say, it was not my department" (Tr. 88).

Cancelled Check (Ex. IV to Complaint, Tr. 10) - This check shows that on October 19, 2012, Brenda Halsey paid \$10,002.15 for taxes. In the "for column" of the check, Ms. Halsey wrote "055 and 3". [Ms. Halsey was not given the opportunity to testify to explain the circumstances surrounding this payment, but the court should take judicial notice that this large payment of taxes was made during the time in which the delinquent taxes were allegedly due: the Tax Sale was for the years 2008-2013.]

Mr. Price remembered when Ms. Halsey came to pay these taxes. She had her son-in-law with her. They stayed until almost 6:00 p.m. that night (Tr. 89). Mr. Price's testimony is that those taxes were paid for another tract of land. Ms. Halsey, and her son-in-law, were not given the opportunity to relate the conversation that took place. However, Mr. Price's testimony does document that Ms. Halsey and her son-in-law were making efforts to pursue the payment of taxes and even stayed late in the evening to try to get matters worked out.

The purpose of introducing the above exhibits was to document the confusion surrounding this property. However, despite the inconsistencies on the documents, the owners were almost always shown to be Brenda Halsey (or her husband, Bernay). In light of this, Mr. Price was asked why Brenda Halsey was not given notice about the tax sale. His response was “like I say, sir, we’re not sure who owns the property” (Tr. 90).

As a result of the directed verdict, the Appellants were not allowed to present any evidence. A 59(e) Motion was filed and attached thereto were public records that would have been introduced into evidence. [The parties had agreed that county public records could be introduced (Tr. 79.) Most of the exhibits had been introduced at trial. A summary of the documents attached with the 59(e) Motion is as follows:

<u>DATE</u>	<u>ITEM</u>	<u>LAND</u>	<u>NAME</u>
8/3/82	County Mapping Card	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine St. (1 lot)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
7/16/96	Assessor Print Out	100-08-00-055.00 Located at 305 Leadmine Rd. (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Lula Oglesby & Bernay Halsey
3/26/97	Assessor Letter	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
98,99&2000	Tax Notices	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine St. (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
8/16/2000	Assessor Letter	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine Rd (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
2001	Tax Notice	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine St. (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
11/21/2001	Assessor Print Out	100-08-00-055.03 Located at 305 Leadmine St. (1 lot & 1 bldg) (Notation: Brenda W. Halsey goes to Assessor’s Office)	Gaffney Rederick Est.
2002	Tax Notice	100-08-00-056.00 Located at 305 Leadmine St. (1 lot & 1 bldg)	Bernay Frederick Halsey
5/31/2011	Delinquent Tax Office	100-08-00-055.03 Located at 305 Leadmine St.	Gaffney Rederick Est. c/o Brenda Halsey
10/19/2012	Cancelled Check for \$10,002.15	For 100-08-00-055.00 and 100-08-00-055.03 Note: The Tax Sale was for the years 2008-2013	

These documents show the confusion surrounding the identity of the subject lot. The tax map number was frequently incorrect. However, the address of the property was always 305 Leadmine Road (the address used by Brenda Halsey to receive her mail). And, all but one of the documents showed Bernay Halsey or Brenda Halsey as the owner. As a result, it is unreasonable for the county to take the position that the tax sale could be correctly conducted without giving notice to Brenda Halsey, or at least to provide notice to the address of 305 Leadmine Road.

Also, in the 59(e) Motion, records from DHEC, as far back as 1983, identified the property as being owned by Bernay Halsey. And, the records correctly identified the property as being located at 305 Leadmine Road. These records were presented to show that there was never any confusion on the part of the Appellants: the Appellants were shown as the owners and the address of the property was shown as 305 Leadmine. This substantiates the Appellants argument that there was no legitimate reason for the County Taxing Officials not to show the Appellants as the owners of the subject property.

The Appellants respectfully submit that the tax sale was invalid. They ask this Court to invalidate the sale.

CONCLUSION

The Appellants contend that the tax sale should be declared invalid. There were sufficient documents to show that Brenda Halsey was an owner and that she should have been notified of the pending tax sale. The Delinquent Tax Collector acknowledged that Brenda Halsey was believed to be an heir of the property. And, since the 1980's, county documents used her or her husband's name on the property. It was error for the Delinquent Tax Office not to send notice of the delinquent taxes to Brenda Halsey. In Donahue v. Ward, 298 S.C. 75 (Ct. App. 1989), the Court held that the county official is required to make a good faith effort to locate the address of the taxpayer. Here, the Delinquent Tax Office had documentation to show Brenda Halsey was an owner, but he elected not to give her notification until right before the end of the redemption period.

The Appellant also contends that they should be given the opportunity on remand to prove ownership of the property to prevent any further confusion with the identity and ownership of the subject property.