THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Gordon G. Cooper, Master-in-Equity

Case No: 2015-CP-11-0319
Appellate Case No.: 2017-001459

RECEIVED
NOV 07 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Brenda Halsey, Bernay F. Halsey, Jr., Demont Halsey,
Fredericka Halsey and Brittany Halsey,

Appellants,

v.

Gwendollette Halsey Simmons, Kenneth Wayne Oglesby, Roderick
Terrill Oglesby, any heirs of the Rederick Gaffney Estate, known
and unknown, who may claim any interest in the subject property,
and any unknown heirs or parties who may claim title or ownership
in the real estate which is the subject of this action, Elijah Redish,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TAX SALE WAS VALID, THE ERROR BEING THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE NOT FOLLOWED BECAUSE THE NOTICES SENT BY THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE WERE NOT SENT TO THE BEST ADDRESS AVAILABLE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TAX SALE WAS VALID, THE ERROR BEING THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE NOT FOLLOWED BECAUSE THE NOTICES WERE NOT SENT TO BRENDA HALSEY?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE ERROR BEING THAT THE APPELLANTS WERE DENIED THE OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT EVIDENCE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE ERROR BEING THAT THE TESTIMONY PRESENTED BY THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE SHOWED THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE NOT FOLLOWED?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE ERROR BEING THAT THE RULING WAS BASED UPON AN INCOMPLETE RECORD?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, THE ERROR BEING THAT DESPITE THE CONFUSION SURROUNDING OWNERSHIP AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE HAD ACTUAL NOTICE THAT BRENDA HALSEY WAS AN OWNER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 15, 2015, the Appellants herein filed an action in the Cherokee County Court of Common Pleas seeking, *inter alia*, a rescission of a tax sale of real property located in Cherokee County, South Carolina. Respondent Jackie W. Williams, as Cherokee County Treasurer, or the Successor in Office, Vernon L. Price, as Delinquent Tax Collector of Cherokee County, or the Successor in Office (hereinafter "Respondents Williams and Price") filed a timely Answer to this action on May 12, 2015 at the Cherokee County Clerk of Court's Office. This matter was thereafter referred to the Honorable Gordon G. Cooper by Consent Order filed on December 21, 2016. On March 22, 2017, a trial was held at the Spartanburg County Master-in-Equity courtroom, and the Final Order from this hearing was filed on April 6, 2017. The Appellants filed and served a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment this Order. An Order denying the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment was filed on June 21, 2017 in the Cherokee County Clerk of Court's Office.

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TAX SALE WAS VALID, BECAUSE THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE FOLLOWED, AND THE NOTICES SENT BY THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE WERE SENT TO THE BEST ADDRESS AVAILABLE.

By way of background, this matter centers around a parcel of property in Cherokee County, South Carolina better designated as Tax Map Number 100-08-00-055.003 (hereinafter "the Property"). The Property was sold at the Cherokee County Delinquent Tax sale on

November 4, 2013, for the past due *ad valorem* property taxes from the years 2008-2013 pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016). The Respondent Elijah Reddish was the high bidder at the tax sale, and was issued a tax deed on November 12, 2014 (R. pp. 133-138). Prior to the issuance of the tax deed, the Respondents Williams and Price properly sent all the required notices pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016). The majority of these notices went to Gwendolyn Dawkins, also known as the Respondent Gwendolyn Halsey Simmons (R. p. 57, line 20-p. 58, line 2). Specifically, the record clearly demonstrates that the Respondents Williams and Price underwent the following statutorily required procedures:

- 1) On or about March 24, 2013, an Execution Tax Notice was sent to:

Gaffney Rederick Est
% Gwendolyn Dawkins
135 Iris Lane, Gaffney, SC 29341
(R. p. 64, lines 3-24, R. p. 106)

S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (a) (Supp. 2016) states:

(a) On April first or as soon after that as practicable, mail a notice of delinquent property taxes, penalties, assessments, and costs to the defaulting taxpayer and to a grantee of record of the property, whose value generated all or part of the tax. The notice must be mailed to the best address available, which is either the address shown on the deed conveying the property to him, the property address, or other corrected or forwarding address of which the officer authorized to collect delinquent taxes, penalties, and costs has actual knowledge. The notice must specify that if the taxes, penalties, assessments, and costs are not paid, the property must be advertised and sold to satisfy the delinquency. (emphasis added)

- 2) On or about June 8, 2013, a Final Tax Notice was sent to and signed by Gwendolyn Dawkins. This Notice stated that the property would be sold on November 4, 2013 if the taxes were not paid. This Notice was specifically sent to:

Gaffney Rederick Est
% Gwendolyn Dawkins
135 Iris Lane
Gaffney, SC 29341
(R. p. 65 lines 1-16, R. pp. 107-108)

S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (b) (Supp. 2016) states in relevant part:

(b) If the taxes remain unpaid after thirty days from the date of mailing of the delinquent notice, or as soon thereafter as practicable, take exclusive possession of the property necessary to satisfy the payment of the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs. In the case of real property, exclusive possession is taken by mailing a notice of delinquent property taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs to the defaulting taxpayer and any grantee of record of the property at the address shown on the tax receipt or to an address of which the officer has actual knowledge, by "certified mail, return receipt requested-restricted delivery" pursuant to the United States Postal Service "Domestic Mail Manual Section S912". (emphasis added)

3) On September 13, 2013, the Delinquent Tax Collector of Cherokee County Vernon L. Price physically posted a Notice of Levy at the Property. This Notice stated that the property would be sold on November 4, 2013 if the taxes were not paid. (R. p. 65, line 23-p. 66, line 17, R. pp. 109-110) S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (c) (Supp. 2016) states in relevant part:

(c) If the "certified mail" notice has been returned, take exclusive physical possession of the property against which the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs were assessed by posting a notice at one or more conspicuous places on the premises, in the case of real estate, reading: "Seized by person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes of (name of political subdivision) to be sold for delinquent taxes", the posting of the notice is equivalent to levying by distress, seizing, and taking exclusive possession of it, or by taking exclusive possession of personalty.

4) On October 16, 2013 and October 30, 2013, the Property was advertised for sale in The Gaffney Ledger, a newspaper of general circulation in Cherokee County. Additionally, on October 22, 2013 and October 29, 2013, the Property was advertised for sale in The Cherokee Chronicle, a newspaper of general circulation in Cherokee County. These Notices stated that the Property would be sold on November 4, 2013 if the past due taxes were not paid. The Property was described by its address, tax map number, and Rederick Gaffney Estate. (R. p. 67 lines 1-14, R. pp. 115-118) S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (d) (Supp. 2016) states in relevant part:

(d) The property must be advertised for sale at public auction. The advertisement must be in a newspaper of general circulation within the county or municipality, if applicable, and must be entitled "Delinquent Tax Sale". It must include the delinquent taxpayer's name and the description of the property, a reference to the county auditor's map-block-parcel number being sufficient for a description of realty. The advertising must be published once a week before the legal sales date for three consecutive weeks for the sale of real property, and two consecutive weeks for the sale of personal property.

- 5) On November 13, 2013, a notice was sent informing Gwendolyn Dawkins that the Property was sold on November 4, 2013 at the tax sale, and that they have until November 5, 2014 to redeem the Property, or it would be sold at the tax sale. (R. p. 67 line 24-p. 69 line 1, R. p. 112)

- 6) On October 14, 2014, delinquent tax notices were sent via certified mail to the following addresses:

Gwendolyn Dawkins
135 Iris Lane
Gaffney, SC 29341

Brenda Halsey
305 Leadmine Rd.
Gaffney, SC 29340
(R. p. 69 lines 2-21, R. pp. 113-114)

S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-120 (2014) states in relevant part:

Neither more than forty-five days nor less than twenty days before the end of the redemption period for real estate sold for taxes, the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall mail a notice by "certified mail, return receipt requested-restricted delivery" as provided in Section 12-51-40(b) to the defaulting taxpayer and to a grantee, mortgagee, or lessee of the property of record in the appropriate public records of the county.

Despite all of the many steps listed above were completed by the Respondents Price and Williams, the Appellants, nor anyone else, paid the past due taxes on the Property, and the tax deed was issued to the Respondent Elijah Redish. In filing this action, the Appellants are claiming that they have a legal interest in the Property through the estate of Bernay Frederick Halsey (R. pp. 1-6). According to their Complaint, Bernay Frederick Halsey died on June 22, 2004, and his estate was filed ten (10) years later in Probate File #2014-ES-11-104 (R. p. 2). Notably, the Appellants also list "any heirs of the Rederick Gaffney Estate" as a party to their action. In the Complaint, the Appellant explains that "this estate has been joined as a Defendant because some abstractors of the subject property contend that the estate of Reddick (sic) Gaffney

was originally the owner of this land.” (R. p. 2) The Complaint also notes this estate was filed on August 13, 1955 (R. p. 4). Obviously, by adding the heirs of the Rederick Gaffney Estate as a party to the action, the Appellants are conceding that this estate, which predates the Halsey estate, has an interest in the Property. As noted several times in the above-referenced Defendant’s Exhibit #2, the tax bills in the property were sent to the Rederick Gaffney Estate at the best-known address available to the Respondents Williams and Price. The Plaintiff’s Exhibit 9 shows the 2004 and 2005 tax receipts that purportedly were paid by the Appellant, with the address being in the records:

Gaffney Rederick Est
% Gwendolyn Dawkins
135 Iris Lane
Gaffney, SC 29341
(R. p. 131)

This address is the same address that all of the statutorily required notices were sent in this matter in 2013 and 2014. The Delinquent Tax Collector of Cherokee County Vernon L. Price further testified that there was no change of address in the computer system. (R. p. 68, line 9)

In Koth v. Pallachucola Club, 79 S.C. 514, 61 S.E. 77 (1908), the Court held that it was permissible to send notice to the heirs of someone who held formerly title to real property. The Court stated “It would be unreasonable to require tax officers to unravel complicated inheritances and state on the tax list the Christian and family names of all the heirs of persons deceased.” Id., 61 S.E. at 78. The Court went on to say “Designating the owners on the tax books, in the execution and in the advertisement as heirs of a particular person deceased, is notice to all such heirs that land in which they are interested is assessed for taxes, and will be sold unless the taxes are paid.” Id. The Delinquent Tax Collector of Cherokee County Vernon L.

Price testified that there was no documentation telling him who the heirs were to the Property (R. p. 71, lines 20-21). The trial judge saw and heard the witness, and was in a good position to judge his credibility and demeanor. Smith v. Barr, 650 S.E.2d 486, 375 S.C. 157 (Ct. App. 2007) Based upon the foregoing, the Respondents Williams and Price would assert that the Appellants received notice of the tax sale in advance pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016).

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TAX SALE WAS VALID, BECAUSE THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE FOLLOWED EVEN IF THE NOTICES WERE NOT SENT TO BRENDA HALSEY.

For the reasons set forth above, the Respondents Williams and Price assert that the notices in this matter were correctly mailed to the heirs of the Rederick Gaffney Estate. Notwithstanding, the Appellants submit that notices were also required to be sent to Brenda Halsey. The Delinquent Tax Collector of Cherokee County Vernon L. Price testified that “Brenda has never come in about the Rederick Gaffney house,” and that “I’ve mentioned it to her, but she has never come in to me about it,” and lastly, “I don’t know for a fact that they are heirs to this property.” (R. p. 75, lines 5-15) Mr. Price testified that he on his own volition sent Ms. Halsey a notice about the end of the redemption period for the Property. (R. p. 75) He further testified that he sent her notice as a courtesy due to her connection to an adjacent property. (R. p. 93, lines 18-24) At no time in Mr. Price’s testimony did he ever state that he knew that Ms. Halsey had any legal or ownership interest in the Property, nor did he testify about seeing any documentation or any other evidence of any legal interest that Ms. Halsey may have had in the Property. Under the aforementioned Koth case, the Respondents Williams and Price were only required to send notice to the best known address of the heirs of the Rederick Gaffney

estate, which they clearly completed. Based upon this, the Respondents Williams and Price would assert that the trial court did not err in validating the tax sale.

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, BECAUSE THE APPELLANTS WERE AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT EVIDENCE.

The standard in a civil matter for directed verdict is found in Rule 50, SCRCP, which states in relevant part:

- (a) Motion for Directed Verdict: When Made: Effect. When upon a trial the case presents only questions of law the judge may direct a verdict. A party who moves for a directed verdict at the close of the evidence offered by an opponent may offer evidence in the event that the motion is not granted, without having reserved the right so to do and to the same extent as if the motion had not been made.

In the instant case, the central issue was whether the Respondents Williams and Price had complied with the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016), and whether their actions validated the tax sale of the Property. Pursuant to Rule 16(e) SCRCP, the parties held a pre-trial conference, and the trial court required that the validity of the tax sale be at the forefront of the issues (R. p. 58, lines 9-24). Naturally, if the actions taken by the Respondents Williams and Price were proper under S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016), and thus the tax sale was valid, all other remaining issues would be moot. Accordingly, the trial court heard from the primary person in charge of executing the real property tax sales in Cherokee County, Vernon L. Price (R. pp. 59-99). The Appellants were afforded an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Price (R. pp. 72-98). During the cross-examination, the Appellants introduced twelve (12) different exhibits

(R. pp. 38-53). At this stage of the trial, the Appellants had any and all opportunity to question the procedure, records, and sufficiency of the tax sale from the primary person in charge of administering those duties. At the conclusion of the testimony of Mr. Price, the Respondent Redish moved for the trial court to approve the tax sale, which was granted (R. p. 99). The Respondents Williams and Price would submit that the Appellants had ample opportunity to present evidence that the Cherokee County Delinquent Tax Office improperly sent notice in this matter, but the evidence clearly demonstrates that the Respondents Williams and Price adhered to the notices as required by S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016).

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY PRESENTED BY THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE SHOWED THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF CODE §12-51-40 WERE FOLLOWED.

As stated in Arguments 1, 2, and 3 above, the Respondents Williams and Price submit that all required procedures under S.C. Code Ann. §12-51-40 (Supp. 2016) were followed. Under Rule 50, SCRPC, the court has the authority to grant a directed verdict upon motion of any party. The trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions and to deny the motions where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt. Law v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 629 S.E.2d 642, 368 S.C. 424 (2006) In the instant case, the trial judge heard the testimony of the party with the most knowledge about the procedures of the delinquent tax sales in Cherokee County, and based upon the evidence presented, ruled in favor of Respondents Williams and Price. Based upon all the foregoing

arguments, the Respondents Williams and Price would submit that the trial court properly issued a directed verdict.

5. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT, BECAUSE THE RULING WAS BASED UPON THE RECORD NECESSARY TO ADJUDICATE THE ISSUES

As already discussed *infra*, the Appellants were offered an opportunity to cross-examine the primary witness Vernon L. Price, and were able to submit exhibits to support their position. The trial judge correctly asserted that if the tax sale was rendered valid, there would be no need to hear any other evidence or testimony concerning any other issues that the Appellants were alleging. Because the trial judge was in a good position to judge the witness' testimony, the Respondents Williams and Price would submit that the trial court properly issued a directed verdict.

6. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE DELINQUENT TAX OFFICE DID NOT HAVE ACTUAL NOTICE THAT BRENDA HALSEY WAS AN OWNER.

The Appellants assert that the Cherokee County Delinquent Tax Office had actual notice that Brenda Halsey was an owner of the Property, however, this is a misstatement of the facts. Mr. Price testified that "there was no documentation telling me who heirs were to any of this property." (R. p. 71, lines 20-21). Mr. Price went on to state that "I don't know for a fact that they are heirs to this property." (R. p. 75, lines 5-6) The Appellant Brenda Halsey had discussion with Mr. Price about a mobile home park that surrounded the Property. (R. p. 70 lines